S 188982

COPY<sup>2A</sup>

S \_\_\_\_\_

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE  
STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

\_\_\_\_\_  
**C.A., A MINOR, ETC., ET AL.,**  
Plaintiff(s) and Appellant(s),

vs.

**WILLIAM S. HART UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT  
AND GOLDEN VALLEY HIGH SCHOOL,**

Defendants and Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_  
AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL  
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 1, CASE No. B217982  
LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT CASE No. PC 044428

\_\_\_\_\_  
**PETITION FOR REVIEW**  
\_\_\_\_\_

**MANLEY & STEWART**

VINCE W. FINALDI, BAR No. 238279  
JOHN C. MANLY, BAR No. 149080  
4220 VON KARMAN AVENUE,  
SUITE 200  
NEWPORT BEACH, CALIFORNIA 92660  
TELEPHONE: (949) 252-9990

## ISSUE PRESENTED

When a school district's employees hire, retain or supervise a school guidance counselor they know or have reason to know has a history of child molestation, can the school district be *vicariously* liable for that negligent hiring, retention or supervision under Government Code section 820 if that counselor molests a student entrusted to her, or is the molested student unable to sue the school district because there is no separate statute imposing *direct* liability on the District for that conduct, as the Court of Appeal Majority held in its published opinion in this case?

## INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW IS NECESSARY

As incredible as it sounds, under the published majority opinion of the Court of Appeal in this case, a school district who hires, retains or supervises a child molester to personally counsel high school students is not subject to any liability if that counselor predictably molests one of the students entrusted to her – even though the school district's employees were previously aware or had reason to be aware of the counselor's molestation history and did nothing about it. In his 27 page dissenting opinion, Presiding Justice Mallano explained why this result is not correct. Unless this Court grants review, then decades of law concerning vicarious liability of governmental entities due to the

negligence of their employees will be eroded in an area where such liability is most needed: the protection of young students from foreseeable molestation by those entrusted to teach and counsel them. The Court of Appeal opinion, if allowed to stand, will insulate schools from the unconscionable negligence of its employees in the hiring, retention or supervision of individuals, such as guidance counselors with unique access to young students, whom the employees know or should know are child molesters.

In this case, it is alleged that employees of the William S. Hart Union High School District (“School District”) negligently hired, retained or supervised Roselyn Hubbell to be a head high school guidance counselor even though these employees knew or had reason to know that Ms. Hubbell had a history of child molestation. While working as counselor, Ms. Hubbell started a relationship with one of the 15-year-old students in her charge (plaintiff C.A.) and sexually molested him. In its published majority opinion, the Court of Appeal held that plaintiff could not pursue any of his claims against the School District.

According to the majority opinion, school districts have no liability for negligently hiring, retaining or supervising child molesters who have direct control over the young students who are entrusted to their care. There is no vicarious liability for the acts of the molester because such acts will be deemed outside the course and scope of employment. Plaintiff is not challenging this aspect of the majority opinion. However, the Majority goes further and holds that there could be no liability for the hiring, retention or

supervision of the molester because, according to the Majority, there is no statute imposing *direct* liability. The Majority fails to appreciate that the School District could be vicariously liable for the negligent conduct of its employees who hired, retained or supervised Ms. Hubbell, which resulted in the sexual abuse of plaintiff C.A.

The majority opinion, if allowed to stand, will mean that public schools can suffer no liability whatsoever when they subject their students to being molested by known child molesters. Fortunately, however, this result is not mandated by California law.

In reaching its conclusion, the Majority analyzed plaintiff's claim seeking to hold the School District liable for Ms. Hubbell's conduct in molesting plaintiff as being vicarious in nature, but the claims seeking to impose liability for the hiring, retention or supervision of Ms. Hubbell as being direct in nature only. Viewed in this way the Majority concluded that the School District could not be liable for the hiring, retention or supervision of Ms. Hubbell because, in order for there to be direct liability there must first be a statute imposing liability for the conduct in question, which was absent here.

As Justice Mallano recognized in his vigorous dissenting opinion, the flaw in the Majority's analysis was its failure to recognize that when a plaintiff claims (such as here) that certain employees of a governmental entity negligently hire, retain or supervise another employee who in turn directly injures the plaintiff, then the negligent hiring and retention claim is *vicarious* in nature. The plaintiff is seeking to impose liability on the entity based upon the negligent conduct of the employees who were responsible for the

hiring, retention or supervision of the unfit employee who directly injured the plaintiff.

“Here, the school district’s liability is based on the wrongful conduct – negligence – of employees *other than* the guidance counselor.” (Slip Opinion, Dissent p. 11.)

The reason why this characterization is so important is that under the Government Code “a public employee is liable for injury caused by his act or omission to the same extent as a private person” (Gov. Code, § 820 , subd. (a)) *and* “[a] public entity is liable for injury proximately caused by an act or omission of an employee of the public entity within the scope of his employment if the act or omission would . . . have given rise to a cause of action against that employee,’ unless ‘the employee is immune from liability.” (Gov. Code, § 815.2, subds. (a), (b).) Thus, so long as the basis for plaintiff’s claim is the negligence of an employee of a governmental entity and that claim would have been recognized if it had been brought against a private defendant, then section 815.2 provides a statutory basis to hold that governmental entity vicariously liable for its employee’s tortious conduct.

The Court of Appeal Majority is therefore unquestionably wrong. Review is needed to correct this error because the majority opinion reflects a fundamental misunderstanding as to the nature of negligent hiring/retention/supervision claims which was engendered in part from unfortunate language in other opinions. If this Court does not intervene, victims of sexual molestation, such as the plaintiff in this case, will have no recourse against the public schools to whom their parents were legally required to entrust



them, when those schools place the students in harms way by hiring and retaining teachers they know or had reason to know were child molesters. This is without doubt an important question of law meriting this Court's attention. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500 (b)(1).) Further, as Justice Mallano's dissent reflects, the majority opinion creates confusion in the law and is inconsistent with the holdings of other appellate decisions. Therefore, review by this Court is also warranted to secure uniformity of decision. (*Ibid.*)

### STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>1</sup>

C.A. was a 15-year-old student at a public high school operated by the William S. Hart Union High School District (School District). The head guidance counselor and advisor at the high school (an employee of the School District) was assigned to "counsel, advise and mentor" C.A. The complaint alleged that the guidance counselor sexually harassed, abused and molested C.A. on a number of occasions from January 2007 to September 14, 2007. The guidance counselor drove C.A. home from school and spent long hours with C.A. on and off the high school premises. The guidance counselor performed a variety of sexual acts on C.A. and required him to perform a number of

---

<sup>1</sup>The facts in this petition are derived from the majority opinion (Slip opinion pp. 2-3) which in turn are taken from the operative complaint (AA 1-42) as appropriate in an appeal reviewing an order sustaining a demurrer without leave to amend such as this. (*Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 966-967.)

sexual acts on her. C.A. suffered “extensive physical, psychological and emotional damages” as a result. The School District “knew that [the guidance counselor] had engaged in unlawful sexually-related conduct with minors in the past, and/or was continuing to engage in such conduct,” but failed to take reasonable steps to prevent further unlawful sexual conduct by the guidance counselor whom it had reason to know had sexually abused plaintiff.

The complaint stated causes of action against the School District, the high school, and the guidance counselor for negligence; negligent supervision; negligent hiring and/or retention; negligent failure to warn, train or educate; constructive fraud; intentional infliction of emotional distress; sexual battery; assault; sexual harassment; gender violence; and unfair business practices.

In its published majority opinion, the Court of Appeal held, among other things, that plaintiff could not pursue his claim for negligent hiring and/or retention because, according to the majority, there was no statutory basis for such a claim. In reaching this conclusion, the majority treated the negligent hiring, retention or supervision claim as being premised on direct liability against the School District only. (Slip Opinion Majority, pp. 6-8.) In his thorough dissent, Justice Mallano reasoned that when employees of the School District hired and retained a person they knew or had reason to know was a child molester or failed to properly supervise someone they had reason to know was molesting a child, they acted negligently and were potentially liable under

Government Code section 820, subdivision (a). Accordingly, the School District would be subject to vicarious liability for the supervisory employee's negligence under Government Code section 815.2, subdivision (a) and (b). (Slip Opinion Dissent, pp. 1-27.)

## ARGUMENT

**Review is necessary for this Court to affirm that when employees of a school district hire, retain or supervise a guidance counselor whom they know or have reason to know has a history of child molestation, the school district could be *vicariously* liable for that negligent hiring, retention or supervision under Government Code sections 820 and 815.2 and, contrary to the majority opinion, the plaintiff need not cite to yet an additional statute authorizing a *direct* liability claim against the school district.**

As described above, plaintiff alleged that the School District was vicariously liable for the negligent hiring, retention or supervision of Roselyn Hubbell as a high school guidance counselor because at least one of its employees knew or had reason to know that Ms. Hubbell had a history of child molestation. (*Ante* at pp. 5-6.) Yet, the majority

opinion treated plaintiff's claim as one imposing only "direct" in contrast to "vicarious" liability and held that there was no statute that specifically permitted a direct liability claim against a governmental entity. (Slip Opinion Majority, pp. 6-8.)

In so ruling, the majority crafted a blanket rule characterizing negligent hiring/retention/supervision claims as necessarily seeking to impose "direct" liability only. The majority was mistaken. Before explaining why, it is first important to explain that there is a statutory basis for imposing vicarious liability on a governmental entity due to the tortious conduct of an employee – something the majority ignores due to its "direct" liability analysis.

"Under the provisions of the California Tort Claims Act, 'a public employee is liable for injury caused by his act or omission to the same extent as a private person,' except as otherwise specifically provided by statute. (Gov. Code, § 820 , subd. (a), italics added.) In addition, the Tort Claims Act further provides that '[a] public entity is liable for injury proximately caused by an act or omission of an employee of the public entity within the scope of his employment if the act or omission would . . . have given rise to a cause of action against that employee,' unless 'the employee is immune from liability.' (Gov. Code, § 815.2, subds. (a), (b), italics added.)" (*Lugtu v. California Highway Patrol* (2001) 26 Cal. 4th 703, 715-718.)

"Through these statutes, 'the Legislature incorporated "general standards of tort liability as the primary basis for respondeat superior liability of public entities. . . .'"

[Citation.]’ (*Mary M. v. City of Los Angeles, supra*, 54 Cal. 3d at pp. 209-210.) Under them, ‘a school district is vicariously liable for injuries proximately caused by [the negligence] of school personnel ‘responsible for student supervision.’ (*Dailey v. Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist.* (1970) 2 Cal. 3d 741, 747 [87 Cal. Rptr. 376, 470 P.2d 360] (*Dailey*); see also *Castro v. Los Angeles Bd. of Education* (1976) 54 Cal. App. 3d 232, 235 [126 Cal. Rptr. 537] [under §§ 815.2, ‘school districts are liable for the negligence of their employees’].)” (*Hoff v. Vacaville Unified School Dist.* (1998) 19 Cal. 4th 925, 932-933; *Zelig v. County of Los Angeles* (2002) 27 Cal. 4th 1112, 1128 [“Vicarious liability is a primary basis for liability on the part of a public entity, and flows from the responsibility of such an entity for the acts of its employees under the principle of respondeat superior.”])

Thus, so long as a plaintiff alleges that an employee of a governmental entity engaged in tortious conduct within the course and scope of his or her employment for which that employee could be personally liable, then there is a statutory basis to find that the employer-governmental-entity could be vicariously liable for that tortious conduct.

When, as here, a plaintiff alleges that a supervisory employee of a public entity negligently hired, retained or supervised another employee who in turn injured the plaintiff, then that plaintiff is seeking to impose vicarious liability on the public entity for negligent hiring, retention or supervision. Liability is being sought not because the entity itself was negligent, but instead because it is vicariously liable for the negligence of an

employee (the employee who hired or retained the unfit employee). “Vicarious liability ‘means that the act or omission of one person . . . is imputed by operation of law to another,’” without regard to fault. (*Srithong v. Total Investment Co.* (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 721, 726 [28 Cal. Rptr. 2d 672], italics added.) For example, vicarious liability for torts is imposed by operation of law upon employers for acts of their employees within the course and scope of employment, or upon principals for the acts of their agents. . . .” (*Chee v. Amanda Goldt Property Management* (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 1360, 1375; See *Wise v. Thrifty Payless, Inc.* (2000) 83 Cal. App. 4th 1296, 1305 [“Vicarious liability is based on the concept that one person's wrongful act will be imputed to another despite the fact the latter is free from fault. It is an exception to the general rule that persons are only responsible for their own wrongful acts. (See Prosser & Keeton, Torts (5th ed. 1984) §§ 69, pp. 499-500.)”])

As Justice Mallano explained in his dissenting opinion, school employees can be subjected to individual liability for the decision to hire or retain unfit employees. “[*Dailey v. Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist.* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 741] recognized (1) school employees may be personally liable for student injuries caused by the failure to provide adequate supervision, and (2) the school district, in turn, may be vicariously liable for the employees' failure to provide adequate supervision. *Dailey* makes clear that in school district cases, the Government Claims Act did not abolish precedent making school districts liable for negligent supervision, and, accordingly, it is not necessary to identify a

statutory basis for the school district's liability other than section 815.2 itself.” (Slip Opinion Dissent, p. 4)

Justice Mallano then analyzed this Court’s opinion in *Hoyem v. Manhattan Beach City Sch. Dist.* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 508, *John R. v. Oakland Unified School Dist.* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 438 and *Randi W. v. Muroc Joint Unified School Dist.* (1997) 14 Cal.4th 1066 and reasoned that “Under the *Dailey-Hoyem-Randi W.* trilogy, a school employee may be held personally liable for his or her negligence in failing to supervise students adequately, and the school district may be vicariously liable for the employee's negligence.” (Slip Opinion Dissent p. 10.)

Other cases are in accord. For example, in *Virginia G. v. ABC Unified School Dist.* (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 1848, 1853-1855, the Court held that “while Ferguson's conduct in molesting Virginia G. will not be imputed to the School District, if individual District employees responsible for hiring and/or supervising teachers knew or should have known of Ferguson's prior sexual misconduct toward students, and thus, that he posed a reasonably foreseeable risk of harm to students under his supervision, including *Virginia G.*, the employees owed a duty to protect the students from such harm. (*John R. v. Oakland Unified School Dist.*, *supra*, 48 Cal.3d at p. 453; *Leger v. Stockton Unified School Dist.*, *supra*, 202 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1458- 1459.)”

Further, in *M. W. v. Panama Buena Vista Union School Dist.* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 508, 517-520, the Court detailed the “principles pertaining to a school

district's duty to supervise students” explaining that “[i]t is the duty of the school authorities to supervise at all times the conduct of the children on the school grounds and to enforce those rules and regulations necessary to their protection. [Citations.] The school district is liable for injuries which result from a failure of its officers and employees to use ordinary care in this respect.’ (*Taylor v. Oakland Scavenger Co.* (1941) 17 Cal.2d 594, 600 [110 P.2d 1044]; see also *Dailey v. Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist.* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 741, 747 [87 Cal. Rptr. 376, 470 P.2d 360]; Ed. Code, § 44807; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 5552 [where playground supervision is not otherwise provided, principal of school must provide for supervision by certificated employees of pupils on the school grounds during recess and other intermissions and before and after school].)”

In explaining why such a duty of care existed the *M. W.* Court reasoned that “[a] special relationship is formed between a school district and its students resulting in the imposition of an affirmative duty on the school district to take all reasonable steps to protect its students. This affirmative duty arises, in part, based on the compulsory nature of education. (*Rodriguez v. Inglewood Unified School Dist.* (1986) 186 Cal. App. 3d 707, 714-715 [230 Cal. Rptr. 823]; see also Cal. Const., art. I, §§ 28, subd. (c) [students have inalienable right to attend safe, secure and peaceful campuses]; Ed. Code, § 48200 [children between ages 6 and 18 years subject to compulsory full-time education].) ‘[T]he right of all students to a school environment fit for learning cannot be questioned. Attendance is mandatory and the aim of all schools is to teach. Teaching and learning



cannot take place without the physical and mental well-being of the students. The school premises, in short, must be safe and welcoming.’ (*In re William G.* (1985) 40 Cal.3d 550, 563 [221 Cal. Rptr. 118, 709 P.2d 1287].)” (*Id.* at p. 517.)

The Court then detailed that “California courts have long recognized that a student may recover for injuries proximately caused by a breach of this duty to supervise. (See, e.g., *Hoyem v. Manhattan Beach City Sch. Dist.* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 508, 523 [150 Cal. Rptr. 1, 585 P.2d 851] [student stated claim against school district based on failure to exercise due care in supervision on school premises]; *Dailey v. Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist., supra*, 2 Cal.3d at pp. 747-751 [sufficient evidence to support verdict against school district for negligent supervision even where another student's misconduct was immediate, precipitating cause of injury]; *Lucas v. Fresno Unified School Dist.* (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 866, 871-873 [18 Cal. Rptr. 2d 79][school district had legal duty to supervise students to prevent them from throwing dirt clods at each other during recess]; *Charonnat v. S.F. Unified Sch. Dist.* (1943) 56 Cal. App. 2d 840, 845-846 [133 P.2d 643] [school district liable for negligence or willful misconduct of pupil resulting in injuries to another pupil while both were playing during recess hour]; *Forgnone v. Salvador U.E. School Dist., supra*, 41 Cal. App. 2d at p. 426 [wrongful absence of supervisor may constitute negligence creating liability on part of school district for student's injuries].)” (*Id.* at p. 518.)

There is no rationale which would justify imposing liability on a school where its failure to supervise students on a school yard leads to injury, but withholding accountability where the negligence involves supervision of teachers. Indeed, as explained above, a number of cases, including opinion by this Court treat a school district's liability for the failure to supervise teachers in the same way as its liability for the failure to supervise other students. If anything, liability should extend further with respect to the failure to supervise school employees such as teachers who are entrusted with the safety of young children. And this is even more true as to guidance counselors – such as Ms. Hubbell.

Again, as Justice Mallano aptly explained:

“A school counselor often wears many hats and may work in elementary, middle, or high schools. ... [A] professional school counselor must ultimately communicate with the students under her charge. Specifically, the professional counselor takes on a dual role with respect to student interaction: she is both an advisor on personal issues and an ... academic consultant. Consequently, a school counselor can be one of the most important persons students will encounter during their educational development. [¶] ... [¶]

‘In many instances, the counselor is the person to whom students speak regarding personal problems that have affected, or may eventually affect, academic performance. In such instances, the counselor may make suggestions tailored to the individual student, such as having the student speak one-on-one with the instructor at issue; speaking with the instructor herself; or convening a conference with the counselor, student, instructor, and, sometimes, the parent. ... [A] student may come to a counselor seeking her opinion, anticipating that the counselor will take all the factors involved under consideration.’ (Note, Iowa School Counselors Had Better Get It Right! (2004) 89 Iowa L.Rev. 1093, 1096-1097, fns. omitted.)

“‘A guidance counselor plays a crucial role in the development of a high school student's future. ... [¶] The interactions between student and counselor and their resultant decisions can have a long-lasting impact on the life of the student. ... [¶]

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