SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court Case No. S188982 2d Civil No. B217982

JAN - 4 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Deputy

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

C.A., A MINOR, ETC.

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

WILLIAM S. HART UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT, et al.

Defendants and Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

After A Decision By The Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division 1, Case No. B217985 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. PC 044428

GREINES, MARTIN, STEIN & RICHLAND LLP
Robert A. Olson, SBN 109374
5900 Wilshire Boulevard, 12th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90036
Telephone: (310) 859-7811

Facsimile: (310) 276-5261

McCUNE & HARBER

ISSUE PROFFERED

Government Code sections 815.2, 820, and 820.2 limit a public entity's vicarious liability to liability that would otherwise attach to individual private party employees for the same nondiscretionary conduct. In view of that statutory scheme, can a public entity be vicariously liable for its employees' supposed negligent hiring, retention, and oversight of other employees when individual private persons would not be personally so liable?

REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED BECAUSE THE ESTABLISHED STATUTORY SCHEME PRECLUDES PUBLIC ENTITY VICARIOUS LIABILITY FOR NEGLIGENT EMPLOYEE HIRING, RETENTION OR OVERSIGHT.

The complaint alleges that a female high school counselor engaged in sexual activity with a male high school student. It further alleges that the high school, the school district, and unidentified persons employed by the district knew or should have known about the counselor's activities or proclivities and should have done something (unspecified) to prevent her sexual escapade.

The petition seeks review of a single issue: Whether a public entity can be vicariously liable for the supposed negligent hiring, retention or oversight of other employees, in this case a high school guidance counselor. Although the petition discusses the school context at length, the issue framed is not dependent on that context. As framed, the issue is limited to a public entity's vicarious liability for its employees' actions in hiring, retaining, or overseeing other employees. But the law in this area is

This issue relates at most to the complaint's first four causes of action (for negligence, negligent supervision, negligent hiring, and negligent failure to train). The petition raises no issue as to the complaint's remaining causes of action, the dismissal of which the Court of Appeal's opinion also affirmed.

not unsettled. Rather, it is well established. What the petition seeks is simply a radical remaking of settled law. That is not this Court's role.

The petition is clear as to the issue it frames – vicarious liability for public-entity employees' decisions in hiring, retaining, disciplining or otherwise overseeing other employees. But the established law is that there is and can be no such individual employee personal liability n that regard and without such individual employee liability, there can be no vicarious liability.

I.

The Law Is Well Settled That Privately Employed Individuals Are Not
Liable For Negligent Hiring, Retention Or Supervision Of
Co-Employees; Hence, Public Entity Employees Have No Such
Personal Liability And No Public Entity Vicarious Liability Can Ensue.

In claiming an issue here, the petition seeks to ignore or remake two settled rules. The first is statutory. Absent a direct, statutory mandate, public entity is not liable for its actions as an entity. (Gov. Code, § 815.)

Rather, a public entity's liability is vicarious of the liability of individual employees. (Gov. Code, §§ 820, 815.2 [public entity liable only if individual public entity employee would also be liable].) It is this second prong under which the petition is framed. But public entity employees are

liable only to "the same extent as a private person." (Gov. Code, § 820, subd. (a).) Even then, discretionary actions (e.g., normal employee hiring, firing, and oversight) are entirely immune, even if discretion is abused. (Gov. Code, § 820.2.)

Regardless of their wisdom, these are the rules that the Legislature has imposed. They are not open to controversy. But the petition asks this Court to consider remaking these rules. Why? Because, it asserts, this case presents sympathetic circumstances. But that is no reason to usurp the Legislature's choices. Petitioner does not dispute that no statute makes a public entity directly liable to third persons for employee hiring, retention or oversight decisions. Certainly the petition does not identify any such statute (its only statutory references are to the above-cited Government Code sections). Rather, it premises the sole issue for review on supposed vicarious liability.

That leaves the question of whether an individual private person manager or supervisor can be personally liable for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision of an employee. Under section 820, if a co-employee, manager or supervisor as a private individual cannot be personally liable for negligent hiring, firing, or supervision then a public employee cannot be individually liable either. (Gov. Code, § 820, subd.

(a).) At the outset, the complaint does not identify any particular public entity employee who made any employment hiring, retention, or oversight decision. Rather, it merely alleges that the public entity and unidentified Doe employees somehow negligently hired, retained, and oversaw the defalcating employee. There is no allegation as to what any individual employee (upon whom vicarious liability must be premised) did wrong.

In any event, the law is well-settled. Negligent employee hiring, retention and oversight is a claim against the employer, not against individual co-workers, managers, or supervisors. (See *Phillips v. TLC Plumbing, Inc.* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1133, 1139-1140; *Roman Catholic Bishop v. Superior Court* (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1556, 1564-1565 ["An *employer* may be liable to a third person for the employer's negligence in hiring or retaining an employee who is incompetent or unfit. (Citation.)" Emphasis added]; *Mendoza v. City of Los Angeles* (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 1333, 1339 ["Liability for negligent hiring and supervision is based upon the reasoning that if *an enterprise* hires individuals with characteristics which might pose a danger to customers or other employees, *the enterprise* should bear the loss caused by the wrongdoing of its incompetent or unfit employees," emphasis added].)

"California follows the rule set forth in the Restatement Second of Agency section 213, which provides in pertinent part: 'A person conducting an activity through servants or other agents is subject to liability for harm resulting from his conduct if he is negligent or reckless: . . . [¶] (b) in the employment of improper persons or instrumentalities in work involving risk of harm to others[.]" (Evan F. v. Hughson United Methodist Church (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 828, 836, emphasis added .) Thus, "[l]iability for negligent . . . retention of an employee is one of direct liability for negligence, not vicarious liability. [Citation.]" (Delfino v. Agilent Technologies, Inc. (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 790, 815.)

Individual managers, supervisors and co-employees are not even liable for discriminatory hiring, firing and oversight decisions under the Fair Employment and Housing Act. (*Jones v. Lodge at Torrey Pines Partnership* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1158, 1173.) Given that lack of statutory liability, there is even less support for the proposition that, as private persons, individual co-employees, managers or supervisors can be personally liable for employee hiring, retention and oversight decisions. Certainly, the petition cites no case holding an individual employee – public or private – personally liable for negligent hiring, retention, or oversight of another employee. But under Government Code section 820, that is what is

required for public-entity vicarious liability. (See *De Villers v. County of San Diego* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 238 [where private party employees would not have been personally liable for co-worker's theft of poisons to murder spouse, no public entity liability].)

The petition cites a litary of cases where public entities have been held vicariously liable for their employees' direct negligence in supervising or protecting the injured party. But the conduct of the relevant employee – the counselor – vis à vis the plaintiff, as a matter of law, was outside the scope of employment and something for which the public entity undeniably is not vicariously liable. (John R. v. Oakland Unified School Dist. (1989) 48 Cal.3d 438.) What is left is negligent hiring and oversight of the offending employee. No case holds an individual public entity employee liable for such supposed negligence. And, without individual public entity employee liability there can be no vicarious public entity liability. Likewise, the various dicta that the petition cites (some of it not even from opinions garnering majority support) cannot obviate the direct statutory mandate that public entity vicarious liability must be premised on individual public entity employees' personal liability no greater than that which would be imposed on private persons. None of the cited cases considers the impact of Government Code sections 815.2 and 820. Cases do not stand for propositions not considered. (E.g., Flatley v. Mauro (2006) 39 Cal.4th 299, 320.)

The statutory law is settled: no private-person individual-employee liability, no public-entity individual-employee liability; and, no public-entity individual-employee liability, no public entity vicarious liability. The law is equally settled that individual co-workers, managers, and supervisory employees are not personally liable for supposed negligent co-employee hiring, retention, and oversight decisions.

II.

There Is No Public Policy Reason For Review.

At heart, the petition is a plea that, as a matter of purported public policy, liability should be imposed on public entities for their employee hiring, retention, and oversight decisions regardless what the law is. But the statutory scheme defines public policy in this arena. The Legislature has defined the limited realm in which public entities may be liable (and the public fisc thereby invaded).^{2/}

The amicus letter filed by The Innocence Mission is even more explicitly a public policy appeal. But it is directed at the wrong audience. The public policy choices have been made by the Legislature. The simple fact is that individual employees are not personally liable for negligent hiring, retention, or oversight of other employees who commit ultra vires acts. The Legislature has limited public entity liability to vicarious liability for the *liability* of individual employees.

It is not surprising that there are not a lot of reported decisions in this area, particularly reported decisions after merits trials. Public entities can and do perform background checks on employees. Criminal laws impose substantial constraints on offensive conduct outside of the scope of employment. The counselor here was fired and criminally prosecuted.

The flip side of the public policy picture is that if the law is changed as petitioner seeks, public entities will face an onslaught of negligent hiring, retention and oversight claims as regards a whole host of employee ultra vires conduct from that of police officers to fire fighters to social workers. And, it will not only be public entities themselves which will be sued. As the necessary predicate to petitioner's vicarious liability theory is individual public entity employee liability, individual public entity managers, supervisors and co-workers will be named as defendants, putting a chill on public entities' ability to hire qualified managers and supervisors and on the effective management of crucial public entity functions.

Nor will suits seeking to impose individual, personal negligent hiring, retention, and supervision liability be limited to public entity managers, supervisors and co-employees under petitioner's novel and radical theory. Because the premise of public entity employee liability statutorily is liability to the "the same extent as a private person" (Gov.

Code, § 820, subd. (a)), what the petition seeks is nothing less than opening an entire new realm of personal liability for managers, supervisors and co-employees whether publicly or privately employed. Rather than unsettled legal issues that need to be resolved, the petition seeks to unsettle firmly established law to create a whole new category of individual, personal liability.

CONCLUSION

The petition raises no unsettled legal issue. Rather, it merely complains about the inevitable result compelled by the statutory scheme. It seeks to unsettle established law and statutory norms, not to resolve any existing uncertainty. There is no basis of review; review should be denied. DATED: January 3, 2011

McCUNE & HARBER Stephen M. Harber

GREINES, MARTIN, STEIN & RICHLAND LLP Robert A. Olson

Robert A. Olson

Attorneys for Defendant and Respondent, William S. Hart Union High School District sued as itself and as Golden Valley High School

PROOF OF SERVICE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

I am employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California. I am over the age of 18 and not a party to the within action; my business address is 5900 Wilshire Boulevard, 12th Floor, Los Angeles, California 90036.

On January 3, 2011, I served the foregoing document described as: **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW** on the parties in this action by serving:

Denis Alexandroff Law Offices of 15333 Sherman Way, Suite H Van Nuys, CA 91406

Vince William Finaldi Manly & Stewart Lawyers 4220 Von Karman Ave Ste 200 Newport Beach, CA 92660 [Attorneys for, John AC Doe and A., M., Plaintiffs and Appellants]

Hubbell, Roselyn 9101 Topanga Canyon Blvd., Apt. 225 Chatsworth, CA 91311

[Pro Per: Defendant and Respondent]

Stuart B. Esner
Esner, Chang & Boyer
234 E Colorado Blvd Ste 750
Pasadena, CA 91101
[Attorneys for, John AC Doe and
A., M., Plaintiffs and Appellants]

Clerk to Honorable Melvin M. Sandvig Los Angeles County Superior Court Chatsworth Courthouse 9425 Penfield Avenue Chatsworth, California 91311 [L.A.S.C. No. PC044428]

Court Clerk Second District, Division One California Court of Appeal Ronald Reagan State Building 300 South Spring St., 2nd Floor Los Angeles, California 90013

(X) BY MAIL: As follows: I am "readily familiar" with this firm's practice of collection and processing correspondence for mailing. Under that practice, it would be deposited with United States Postal Service on that same day with postage thereon fully prepaid at Los Angeles, California in the ordinary course of business. I am aware that on motion of party served, service is presumed invalid if postal cancellation date or postage meter date is more than 1 day after date of deposit for mailing in affidavit.

Executed on January 3, 2011, at Los Angeles, California.

(X) (State) I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct.

Leslie Juarez